RECEIVED

Nov 15 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County

Honorable Bentley Price, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MAURICE T. SINGLETON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-000553

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge's order removing Appellant from the courtroom during his trial for murder, without representation, violate Appellant's right to be present and confront witnesses under the Sixth Amendment and the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment as well as the right to self-representation under the Sixth Amendment and right to counsel under the Sixth Amendment when Appellant's actions in the courtroom were not sufficient to constitute a waiver of constitutional rights and there were alternative ways to deal with any disruption other than removing Appellant from the courtroom?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In August of 2021, the Charleston County Grand Jury indicted Appellant, Maurice T. Singleton, for murder, indictment #2021-GS-10-03219.¹ On January 5, 2023, Appellant appeared before the Honorable Bentley Price for a pre-trial hearing. (January 5th and 6th Tr. pp. 1-21). The case had been tried in October and ended in a mistrial because of a hung jury. (January 5th and 6th Tr. p. 3, lines 23-24). Appellant moved to relieve his retained attorney from the first trial. Judge Price relieved prior retained counsel. (January 5th and 6th Tr. p. 9, lines 4-7). The judge allowed Appellant to review the Faretta² warnings overnight. (January 5th and 6th Tr. p. 9, lines 1-7). The next day, Friday, January 6, 2023, Appellant appeared for court but did not wish to sign the written Faretta warnings. (January 5th and 6th Tr. p. 11, lines 18-19). The trial judge generally advised Appellant of the dangers of self-representation. (January 5th and 6th Tr. pp. 13-16). During the January 6, 2023, hearing the State also moved to revoke Appellant's bond. (January 6, 2023, Tr. pp. 1-8). Judge Price denied the motion to revoke bond but added the additional condition that Appellant must report to his bondsman every Monday. (January 6, 2023, Tr. p. 6, lines 17-23).

On March 27, 2023, Appellant proceeded to jury trial before Judge Price. Jordan Alyssa Norvell and Cassity Ann Brewer prosecuted the case. Judge Price appointed Michael Nelson to act as standby counsel. (Trial Tr. p. 12, lines 18-24). Appellant objected to standby counsel as being unqualified. (Trial Tr. p. 13, lines 1-19). As Appellant continued to object, the trial judge warned Appellant that he could be tried in his absence. (Trial Tr. p. 13, line 20 – p. 14, lines 1-

¹ The witness who testified before the grand jury is listed on the indictment as the North Charleston Police Department. (R. p. **). At trial the judge allowed the State to amend the indictment to include the name of Detective Chris Ross, the witness who actually testified before the grand jury. (Trial Tr. p. 51, line 17 – p. 52, lines 1-9).

² 422 U.S. 806, 834, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 2541, 45 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1975).

11). Appellant continued to object and was escorted out of the courtroom. (Trial Tr. p. 14, lines 12-20). The judge took a short recess and asked standby counsel to meet with Appellant. (Trial Tr. p. 14, line 21 – p. 15, lines 1-5). Appellant returned to the courtroom and pre-trial motions continued.

Appellant moved to suppress evidence obtained from his cell phone because the cell phone was illegally seized. (Trial Tr. p. 58, line 18 – p. 59, lines 1-3; p. 59, line 21 – p. 60, p. 61, lines 1-14; pp. 67-72). The judge denied the motion to suppress finding the evidence was obtained pursuant to a valid search warrant. (Trial tr. p. 72, lines 13-15). Appellant continued to object to the admission of contents of the phone and the judge ordered him out of the courtroom. (Trial Tr. pp. 73-77). The prosecutors, standby counsel and the judge discussed technology available to allow Appellant to view the trial without disturbing the proceedings. (Trial Tr. pp. 77-81). Appellant was then returned to the courtroom. (Trial Tr. p. 81, line 10 – p. 82, lines 1-3). After a discovery discussion, a motion for a continuance by Appellant, and the judge denying Appellant's motion for a continuance, the trial began.

On the second day of trial Appellant was again removed from the courtroom. (Trial Tr. p. 161, lines 14-18). After the State called four witnesses in the absence of both Appellant and standby counsel, Appellant was allowed to return to the courtroom. (Trial Tr. pp. 210-216). The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. Judge Price sentenced Appellant to life in prison. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on April 4, 2023. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether a defendant has knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his right to counsel is a mixed question of law and fact which appellate courts review de novo. United States v. Lopez-Osuna, 242 F.3d 1191, 1198 (9th Cir. 2000). Specifically, we review a circuit judge's findings of historical fact for clear error; however, we review the denial of the right of self-representation based upon those findings of fact de novo. United States v. Bush, 404 F.3d 263, 270 (4th Cir. 2005). In doing so, this Court must consider the defendant's testimony, history, and the circumstances of his decision, as presented to the circuit judge at the time the defendant made his request. United States v. Singleton, 107 F.3d 1091, 1097 (4th Cir. 1997); State v. Samuel, 422 S.C. 596, 602, 813 S.E.2d 487, 490 (2018).

ARGUMENT

The trial judge's order removing Appellant from the courtroom during his trial for murder, without representation, violated Appellant's right to be present and confront witnesses under the Sixth Amendment and his rights under the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, as well as his right to self-representation under the Sixth Amendment and right to counsel under the Sixth Amendment when Appellant's actions in the courtroom were not sufficient to constitute a waiver of constitutional rights and there were alternative ways to deal with any disruption other than removing Appellant from the courtroom.

On the second day of the murder trial the judge removed Appellant from the courtroom. (Trial Tr. p. 161, lines 14-18). In the absence of both Appellant and standby counsel, the State called four witnesses: 1. Gregory McKean, an eye-witness; 2. Dr. Nicholas Batalis, a forensic pathologist; 3. Nathaniel Pearson, the Assistant Principal at North Charleston High School where the Appellant and the deceased attended school; and 4. Detective Tiffani Crider with the North Charleston Police Department who obtained Appellant's phone. (Trial Tr. pp. 168-209). Appellant's actions did not warrant removal from the court room. The trial judge erred in removing Appellant from the courtroom.

Appellant, who was on bond, did not appear for court the second day of trial. (Trial Tr. p. 134, lines 2-15). The State moved that bond be revoked and a bench warrant issued. (Trial Tr. p. 134, lines 14-15). The judge granted both motions, excused standby counsel, and the trial continued in Appellant's absence. (Trial Tr. p. 134, lines 16-18; p. 135, lines 18-25). During the testimony of the first State's witness called that day the judge learned that Appellant was in the clerk's office making copies. (Trial Tr. p. 156, lines 21-24). The judge ordered the deputies to bring Appellant into the courtroom. (Trial Tr. p. 156, lines 24-25).

When Appellant was escorted into the courtroom, he began questioning the judge. Appellant asked, "Mr. Judge Price, did you order this? Did you order this unlawful search and unlawful detainment?" (Trial Tr. p. 157, lines 2-3). Appellant then asked, "Sir, I have a right to

be heard and today I will get the facts straight as in who is who today in this courtroom. Sir, who is the trier of fact and who is the trier of the case? If you ignore me, sir, let it be shown you're inducing a fraud. I asked you a question to clarify for the record, who is the trier of the case and who is the trier of fact?" (Trial Tr. p. 157, lines 5-11). The judge declined to answer Appellant's question. (Trial Tr. pp. 157-158).

The judge said, "All right. It's 10:32. I instructed the parties to be here at 9:15. My understanding from the deputy, they got an indication from the clerk's office that Mr. Singleton arrived about five to ten minutes ago, and I revoked his bond, and therefore, he will remain in custody. All right. Mr. Singleton, do you want to participate in this trial? Can you behave enough to participate in the trial or not? I will let you face your accuser. I will let you participate in the trial." (Trial Tr. p. 158, line 25 – p. 159, lines 1-8). The judge then asked, "If I take those handcuffs off are you going to behave?" (Trial Tr. p. 159, lines 19-20). Appellant answered, "The fact that these handcuffs are on me is a violation of due process of law. I was at the clerk of court, and you stopped me from filing crucial evidence in my defense. And that – sir, you will be recused. I demand that you be recused because you are not upholding your duty and you are being very partial in this trial proceeding." (Trial Tr. p. 159, line 21 – p. 160, line 1).

When the judge again asked about removing the handcuffs Appellant responded, "I will participate regardless, sir. The fact that you leave – if you leave these cuffs on me, that will show prejudice." (Trial Tr. p. 160, lines 6-9). The judge ordered the deputies to remove the handcuffs. (Trial Tr. p. 160, lines 10-11). Appellant then asked, "And you say you revoked my bond. Sir, that was unlawful to do. You had no grounds to revoke my bond, for I am in no violation of the bond, and I am in complete compliance with my bondsman, and I am up on payment. So if you have revoked my bond, that will be very unlawful and you will be held

accountable.” (Trial Tr. p. 160, lines 12-17). The judge responded saying, “If you threaten me one more time, we’re going to have a real problem.” (Trial Tr. p. 160, lines 18-19). Appellant responded, “I am not threatening you, sir. This is a constitutional remedy I have.” (Trial Tr. p. 160, lines 20-21).

Appellant went on to say, “Anyway, like I was saying, because I’m controlling authority because I have a right to a republic form of government. That means power invested in the people, me, not any corporate entity. You wouldn’t let me file that just now while I was at the clerk trying to file this. You sent your corporate mercenaries down to detain me and they prevented me from filing it, so I am just going to read from it.” The following then took place between the judge and Appellant:

THE COURT: No, you’re not.

MR. SINGLETON: Sir, you have no right to tell me I can’t do that because this is my –

THE COURT: Do you want to go back there, or do you want –
(Simultaneous speaking.)

MR. SINGLETON: I have a right, sir, and –

THE COURT: Do you want to go back there –
(Simultaneous speaking.)

MR. SINGLETON: Sir, did you take an oath to the constitution?

THE COURT: I revoked his bond. Take him in the back. He will not participate.

MR. SINGLETON: I have a right to be heard. I am not going to –

(Mr. Singleton is escorted out of the courtroom.)

(Trial Tr. p. 161, lines 4-18).

The judge then voiced his concerns saying:

For the record, the concern that I have is I just don’t trust that he won’t do anything violent. I just – with the way he’s acting and the way he is behaving,

he's been nothing but violent with ya'll, I don't know if he needs to be evaluated or what, but I don't trust that he's not going to do something with this jury, or continue to try to tamper with them, or even just be violent with somebody, so I'm very concerned about that.

So I don't know what, really, the best options are; whether we just cuff him and bring him in, whether he can participate in that manner, or whether he'll actually be quiet, but the other concern is that he'll do something to unfortunately force a mistrial by saying something or doing something that's inappropriate.

(Trial Tr. p. 162, lines 4-16).

The prosecutor told the judge, “There is case law, Judge, essentially – so, of course the defendant’s conduct must be egregiously disruptive in order to overcome his Sixth Amendment rights to face his accusers at trial; however, Judge, if he has been given his Faretta warnings on the record, which you have done multiple times, and you have a record of your repeated attempts to persuade him to conduct himself in an orderly manner or be held in contempt, then he can be TIA’s with stand-in counsel.” Although standby counsel was appointed, standby counsel was not present when Appellant was absent from the courtroom.

The judge ruled:

All right. For the record, I believe it's been more than obvious that I have been patient with Mr. Singleton. I have attempted to give him several options in which he could participate in his trial. He refuses to acknowledge any of my rulings or orders.

And, to be quite honest with you, I am very fearful for the parties in this case. I am not sure if he would lash out, do something violent towards the jury, or Ms. Norvell, or anyone along those lines, so even for that reason I'm not going to allow him to participate. He has forfeited his constitutional right to represent himself based on his actions and outbursts. I'm not going to let him fight the deputies anymore. Bring them [the jurors] out.

(Trial Tr. p. 164, line 21 – p. 165, lines 1-7). The trial judge did not ask that standby counsel³ be present at trial in Appellant’s absence stating, “At this point it would just be – he’s not abreast

³ Appellant earlier objected to standby counsel as being unqualified. (Trial Tr. p. 13, lines 1-19).

of the case; he was just standby counsel for procedural purposes only, and that's been a nonissue, so it's moot, so we don't need to bring him back." (Trial Tr. p. 166, lines 8-18). The trial continued in the absence of Appellant and the absence of standby counsel with the State calling four witnesses.

During the lunch break the judge asked standby counsel to consult with Appellant. The judge said, "Mr. Nelson [standby counsel], if you will go down and ask Mr. Singleton if he wishes to participate in his trial. If so, he will remain handcuffed and, you know, he won't be able to -- he's not going to come in here and injure anybody. You missed it. He and the deputies got into it, so he had --" (Trial Tr. p. 210, lines 14-18). Standby counsel asked if this took place in the presence of the jury. (Trial Tr. p. 210, line 19). The judge answered, "No, fortunately it was not. He had an extreme outburst and we could not control him, so we had to try to take him in the back, and he fought the deputies. But he's going to remain shackled." (Trial Tr. p. 210, lines 20-23).

When the trial reconvened after the lunch break standby counsel advised the judge that Appellant wished to participate in his defense. (Trial Tr. p. 211, lines 9-13). The judge stated, "So if he wants to participate, then I'm okay with bringing him up but, I mean, he understands if he says one word other than, yes, sir, he's gone." (Trial Tr. p. 212, lines 7-10). When Appellant returned to the courtroom the judge asked standby counsel if Appellant was ready to proceed. (Trial Tr. p. 213, lines 19-20). Standby counsel indicated Appellant was ready to proceed but stated, "And I'm supposed to stay in the back and not participate." (Trial Tr. p. 213, lines 21-22). Appellant told the judge, "Mr. Nelson [standby counsel] does not have standing to speak for me, he is not qualified to be my counsel." (Trial Tr. p. 213, lines 23-24).

Appellant then asked the judge, “Did you purposely deny me my right to cross-examine these witnesses that you – that took the stand in my absence because of you?” The judge responded, “ I did it because of your actions, the way you behaved.” (Trial Tr. p. 214, lines 10-11). The trial then continued with Appellant representing himself and cross-examining witnesses. The judge denied Appellant’s first requests to remove the handcuffs. (Trial Tr. p. 234, lines 22-25; p. 249, lines 2-5). The judge then allowed Appellant’s right hand to be uncuffed. (Trial Tr. p. 255, lines 5-12). Appellant asked about Mr. McKeen, a witness who testified in Appellant’s absence. (Trial Tr. p. 300, lines 14-16). The transcript reflects that Appellant was escorted out of the court room and the trial ended for the day. (Trial Tr. p. 338, lines 3 -p. 33, lines 1-9).

When the trial resumed the following morning Appellant asked that his right hand be released from the handcuffs. (Trial Tr. p. 343, lines 22-23). The judge responded:

No, not after the way you behaved yesterday with assaulting those deputies on the way out. So here’s the procedural background of everything that’s going on here today, Mr. Singleton. The fact that you showed up late, your bond was revoked, and obviously that’s why you are currently incarcerated. And then as the day wore on, there was not once, but twice, instances whereby you accused the Court of perpetrating some fraud. And then when the proceedings were over for the day I witnessed you fight two deputies, if not three, for whatever purpose, I’m not sure, all the way out. So for that I’m going to hold you in contempt, I’m going to give you six months in the county detention center.

(Trial r. p. 343, line 24 – p. 344, lines 1-10).

During the cross examination of a detective with the North Charleston Police Department, Appellant asked to be allowed to cross examine Mr. McKeen, one of the witnesses who testified in Appellant’s absence. (Trial Tr. p. 428, lines 21-22). The judge responded, “We’ve already talked about that. Continue with this witness.” (Trial Tr. p. 428, lines 24-25).

At the close of the State's case Appellant moved for a directed verdict and asserted that he was deprived of the right to cross examine witnesses resulting in prejudice. (Trial Tr. p. 448, lines 13-19). The judge denied the directed verdict motion and then stated, "And any prejudice [sic] that the defendant had received have been of his own doings by - -" (Trial Tr. p. 449, lines 4-5). The judge then elaborated on Appellant's actions during the trial. (Trial Tr. p. 449, line 23 – p. 450, lines 1-10). When asked if he had enough time to decide if he wished to testify, Appellant told the judge, "What I would have needed more time for Your Honor, was to cross-examine the witness that I was not able to do because you had me detained." (Trial Tr. p. 451, lines 4-6).

Sixth Amendment Right to Confront Witnesses

Appellant had a Sixth Amendment right to be present in the courtroom and confront the witnesses against him. In Illinois v. Allen, 397 U.S. 337, 338, 90 S. Ct. 1057, 1058, 25 L. Ed. 2d 353 (1970), the Supreme Court of the United States wrote:

The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that: 'In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right * * * to be confronted with the witnesses against him * * *.' We have held that the Fourteenth Amendment makes the guarantees of this clause obligatory upon the States. Pointer v. Texas, 380 U.S. 400, 85 S.Ct. 1065, 13 L.Ed.2d 923 (1965). One of the most basic of the rights guaranteed by the Confrontation Clause is the accused's right to be present in the courtroom at every stage of his trial. Lewis v. United States, 146 U.S. 370, 13 S.Ct. 136, 36 L.Ed. 1011 (1892).

In State v. Shuler, 344 S.C. 604, 624, 545 S.E.2d 805, 815 (2001), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

The primary interest secured by the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment is the right to cross examination. Starnes v. State, 307 S.C. 247, 414 S.E.2d 582 (1991) (citing Douglas v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 415, 85 S.Ct. 1074, 13 L.Ed.2d 934 (1965)). The right to confrontation has been referred to as a "trial right." Id. (citing Barber v. Page, 390 U.S. 719, 88 S.Ct. 1318, 20 L.Ed.2d 255 (1968)). The appropriate question under Confrontation Clause analysis is whether

there has been any interference with the defendant's opportunity for effective cross examination at trial. Kentucky v. Stincer, 482 U.S. 730, 745, 107 S.Ct. 2658, 96 L.Ed.2d 631 (1987).

The judge's order excluding Appellant from the courtroom without standby counsel while the State presented four key prosecution witnesses clearly interfered with Appellant's opportunity for effective cross-examination.

Due Process

Appellant also had a Due Process right under the Fourteenth Amendment to be present during his murder trial. In Kentucky v. Stincer, 482 U.S. 730, 745, 107 S. Ct. 2658, 2667, 96 L. Ed. 2d 631 (1987), the Supreme Court of the United State wrote:

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