**RECEIVED**

**Aug 05 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

Appeal from Charleston County

The Honorable Bentley Price, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

MAURICE T. SINGLETON,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2023-000553

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

W. JEFFREY YOUNG  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305

SCARLETT A. WILSON  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit  
101 Meeting Street, Ste. 400  
Charleston, SC 29401

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

So, Mr. Singleton, we're going to proceed today in a little bit more of an orderly fashion. I'm going to be a little bit more strict and keep you on a tighter leash, so for every time that you have an outburst, or you do anything around these deputies, I'm giving you another six months.

(R. p. 375, line 24- p. 376, line 16).

Appellant denied that he "raised a hand against the deputies," to which the court replied, "Of course you didn't. You were shackled," and further argument is not recorded due to,

“Simultaneous speaking.” (R. p. 376, lines 17-22). Judge Price ended the exchange and directed the trial to continue. (R. p. 376, lines 24-25). Appellant continued to contest the allegation of fighting, and also requested aid in printing an affidavit for filing in the case. (R. p. 377, lines 1-15). He would later explain he wanted to print an affidavit “[o]f bias and prejudice.” (R. p. 425, lines 16-18). Appellant also asked to cross-examine Mr. McKean which he was not able to do when he was removed from the courtroom and the judge declined. (R. p. 377, lines 19-23).

Testimony resumed with Mr. Roberts. The State concluded the examination with no further questions, then Appellant cross-examined the witness and there was a short re-direct. (See R. p. 378, line 12- p. 388, line 4). Another witness was called, Detective Riedel, and Appellant again argued with the court over the pre-trial ruling allowing the phone extraction testimony. (R. p. 398, line 17- p. 400, line 17).

The State recalled one witness, Detective Pritchard, to summarize the evidence into one timeline. During cross-examination, Appellant asked a question that indicated a reference to Mr. McKean, and Appellant again requested that he be allowed to cross-examine Mr. McKean. The judge had him move along. (R. p. 460, lines 15-25). He cross-examined the detective about the detective’s assessment of Mr. McKean’s testimony regarding the clothing description. (R. p. 465, line 10- p. 467, line 5). The questioning was repetitive and veered more than once to the improper. (See R. p. 469, lines 6-17; p. 473, lines 13-18; p. 476, lines 23-24). Eventually, the witness testimony was completed, and the State rested. (R. p. 479, line 10).

During the directed verdict motion, Appellant again asserted prejudices, and began speaking over the judge and attempting to direct the judge to take action. (R. p. 481, lines 4-22). Judge Price reminded Appellant he was ejected because of his own “outlandish behavior, his

continued interruption ... a constant, continuous process” having continued to that time where Judge Price was then again addressing Appellant’s disruptive behavior. (R. p. 481, line 23- p. 482, line 10). Any prejudice from removal was of his own making. (R. p. 482, lines 9-10).

Appellant declined to present any evidence, and, when asked if had time to discuss matters with his attorney or family, Appellant noted that he did not have an attorney, stating: “Let the record show Mr. Nelson is not my attorney.” (R. p. 482, lines 17-23). Appellant stated that the only additional time he needed was time “to cross-examine the witness that I was not able to do because” the judge “detained” Appellant. (R. p. 483, lines 4-6). Appellant again asked to have the jury know about the prior trial. (R. p. 485, lines 1-7). Appellant then reversed himself and offered to call his father to speak to the violation of Appellant’s rights. (R. p. 486, lines 3-11). He changed again and considered calling Keyshon Poinsette. (R. p. 488, lines 12-16). Having shown no indication of relevant evidence in his proffer, the judge disallowed calling the offered witness(es). (R. p. 491, lines 3-5). He returned again to request the jury hear about the prior trial. (R. p. 492, lines 1-25). The case eventually went to closing and the jury instruction.

In his instructions to the jury, Judge Price also instructed that while Appellant had been absent for some of the trial, the law allows him to be tried in absence, but the fact of the absence must “not be considered against the defendant....” (R. p. 522, lines 1-5). Appellant objected to not having a charge to inform the jury of the prior trial, to which Judge Price responded, “For the 1,000th time, we are not going to mention the prior trial.” (R. p. 524, lines 20-21). It was noted that Appellant was also inappropriately looking at the jury and “mouthing ‘please’ at the jurors during” the instructions. (R. p. 524, lines 6-10).

In deliberations, the jury returned a note asking if Appellant had their names or only their juror numbers. (R. p. 527, lines 11-14; R. p. 548). Judge Price instructed the jury to

consider only the evidence presented, and “[a]ny other issues will be addressed post trial.” (R. p. 528, lines 11-15). While the jury was out, Appellant offered an apology to Judge Price indicating that his actions were for trial, and not personal. (R. p. 529, lines 4-10).

**Discussion:**

“One of the most basic of the rights guaranteed by the Confrontation Clause is the accused’s right to be present in the courtroom at every stage of his trial.” *Illinois v. Allen*, 397 U.S. 337, 338 (1970). However, “[i]t is essential to the proper administration of criminal justice that dignity, order, and decorum be the hallmarks of all court proceedings in our county.” *Id.* Consequently, “a defendant can waive his right to be present at a crucial stage of the trial by disruptive conduct.” *State v. Shuler*, 344 S.C. 604, 625, 545 S.E.2d 805, 815 (2001).

“A defendant may properly be excluded when his conduct is disruptive or is interfering with the progress of the trial.” *State v. Bell*, 293 S.C. 391, 401, 360 S.E.2d 706, 711 (1987). Further, “[a]lthough the right to be present is a substantial one, no presumption of prejudice arises from a defendant’s exclusion.” *Id.* Rather, “[d]enials of a defendant’s right to be present, as well as other constitutional violations, are subject to a harmless error analysis.” *Shuler*, at 626, 545 S.E.2d at 816 (citing *State v. Williams*, 292 S.C. 231, 355 S.E.2d 861 (1987)).

In *Allen*, the Supreme Court recognized that discretion to deal with disruptive conduct was necessary, and upheld the removal of a defendant from trial as being within the trial court’s discretion:

It is not pleasant to hold that the respondent Allen was properly banished from the court for a part of his own trial. But our courts, palladiums of liberty as they are, cannot be treated disrespectfully with impunity. Nor can the accused be permitted by his disruptive conduct indefinitely to avoid being tried on the charges brought against him. It would degrade our country and our judicial system to permit our courts to be bullied, insulted, and humiliated and their orderly progress thwarted and obstructed by defendants brought before them charged with crimes. As guardians of the

public welfare, our state and federal judicial systems strive to administer equal justice to the rich and the poor, the good and the bad, the native and foreign born of every race, nationality, and religion. Being manned by humans, the courts are not perfect and are bound to make some errors. But, if our courts are to remain what the Founders intended, the citadels of justice, their proceedings cannot and must not be infected with the sort of scurrilous, abusive language and conduct paraded before the Illinois trial judge in this case. The record shows that the Illinois judge at all times conducted himself with that dignity, decorum, and patience that befit a judge. Even in holding that the trial judge had erred, the Court of Appeals praised his ‘commendable patience under severe provocation.’

We do not hold that removing this defendant from his own trial was the only way the Illinois judge could have constitutionally solved the problem he had. We do hold, however, that there is nothing whatever in this record to show that the judge did not act completely within his discretion. Deplorable as it is to remove a man from his own trial, even for a short time, we hold that the judge did not commit legal error in doing what he did.

*Id.*, at 346–47.

*Allen* is instructive and shows how carefully Judge Price handled the tense and unrelenting situation while balancing the need for decorum expected in such proceedings. Judge Price demonstrated remarkable patience, and reiterated multiple times that he wanted Applicant to be able to participate in his trial. (See R. p. 45, lines 22-25; p. 56, lines 4-8; p. 108, lines 11-13; p. 110, lines 6-11; p. 190, lines 5-15; p. 242, lines 1-14). Like *Allen*, Appellant was repeatedly warned by the judge that continuing the impermissible behavior would result in his being removed from the courtroom. (See R. p. 43, line 20- p. 44, line 20; p. 195, line 21- p. 196, line 7). *Id.*, at 346 (“[p]rior to his removal [*Allen*] was repeatedly warned by the trial judge that he would be removed from the courtroom if he persisted in his unruly conduct”). Further, Appellant was charged with contempt and was advised that for every outburst he would get an additional six months but was not removed at that time. (See R. p. 375, line 24- p. 376, line 6). *Id.*, at 344-345 (considering lower court’s notation of “the possible availability of contempt

of court as a remedy to make Allen behave”); *id.*, at 346 (noting “Allen was constantly informed that he could return to the trial when he would agree to conduct himself in an orderly manner.”). Judge Price affirmatively did what *Allen* teaches and sought to avoid or limit ejection by multiple means.

However, Applicant forfeited his presence by engaging, repeatedly, in actions that he was warned interfered with the integrity of the judicial process. Applicant was not present *due to his own misconduct* for the direct or cross examination of four witnesses: Gregory McKean (conductor); Nicholas Batalis (forensic pathologist); Nathaniel Pearson (Assistant Principal); and Tiffani Crider (North Charleston Police Department). Ultimately, the resolution here falls on the fact that Appellant cannot complain of errors of his own making. *State v. Babb*, 299 S.C. 451, 455, 385 S.E.2d 827, 829 (1989) (“a party cannot complain of an error which his own conduct has induced”). At any rate, Appellant has made no attempt to show specific prejudice. *See Bell, supra*. At trial, the only witness of concern to Appellate appeared to be the conductor, however, he brought out (perhaps improperly so, but nonetheless) credibility concerns regarding the conductor’s testimony during Detective Pritchard’s testimony. (*See R. p. 467, lines 2-22*). However, it appears that Appellant attempted to rely on the assertion that he was unrepresented during his absence and prejudice should be assumed. (*See Appellant’s Brief, at 18*). The reliance on such an argument is misplaced for both procedural and substantive reasons.

Appellant’s argument that the judge should have appointed standby counsel is not preserved for review and Appellant never asserted an error based on denial of counsel. *See, e.g., State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693–94 (2003) (“Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.”). Again, the removal from the trial was limited and temporary. Appellant resumed his *pro se* representation and contested his absence,

not the failure to appoint counsel during the absence. (*See* R. p. 245, lines 17-22; p. 334, lines 4-14; p. 460, lines 15-25). Notably, Appellant did not complain even after trial based on deprivation of counsel. (*See* R. p. 537, line 6- p. 538, line 4). And the record shows that Appellant continued to act *pro se*. Appellant is wrong that his right to self-representation was terminated.

Indeed, Appellant was very vocal on rejecting counsel. There is no indication appointment of counsel would have been acceptable. *See Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806, 836 (1975) (“In forcing Faretta, under these circumstances, to accept against his will a state-appointed public defender, the California courts deprived him of his constitutional right to conduct his own defense.”). There is no clearly established Supreme Court precedent that speaks to a mandate to appoint counsel where a *pro se* defendant has been removed from the courtroom due to his disruptive or disrespectful behavior. *See United States v. Stanley*, 739 F.3d 633, 650 (11th Cir. 2014) (denying federal habeas corpus relief noting the absence of clearly established Supreme Court precedent that “*required*” the appointment of counsel where right to counsel is waived, and defendant then absents himself from trial); *Davis v. Grant*, 532 F.3d 132, 145 (2d Cir. 2008) (“regardless of whether or not we might conclude that Davis was erroneously deprived of his right to counsel when he was removed from the courtroom for disruptive conduct and no standby counsel was appointed to represent him in his absence, we cannot conclude that the result constituted an unreasonable application of Supreme Court precedent”). By footnote, the Supreme Court referenced in *Faretta* that “the trial judge may terminate self-representation by a defendant who deliberately engages in serious and obstructionist misconduct.” *Faretta*, at 834 n. 46. This is not absolute; it is permissive. Thus, it works against Appellant’s position. Constitutional rights are not suggestions that may be disregarded. Thus, there is no constitutional mandate to *assume* forfeiture of self-representation and *mandate* appointment.

*Cf. State v. Barnes*, 407 S.C. 27, 37, 753 S.E.2d 545, 550 (2014) (declining to recognize *Indiana v. Edwards*, 554 U.S. 164 (2008) that recognized that a state could deny a self-representation request where a defendant is “competent enough to stand trial under *Dusky* but who still suffer from severe mental illness to the point where they are not competent to conduct trial proceedings by themselves”) (citing *Edwards*, at 178)).

Further, the record is very clear that defendant made a voluntary waiver of his right to counsel. Certainly, a defendant, when warned of the dangers of self-representation, may waive his right to counsel by conduct. *Osbey v. State*, 425 S.C. 615, 621, 825 S.E.2d 48, 51 (2019). Waiver may be made verbally or by conduct. *State v. Thompson*, 355 S.C. 255, 262, 584 S.E.2d 131, 134 (Ct.App.2003). Further, by particularly egregious behavior, the right to counsel may be forfeited. *Id.* See also *City of Columbia v. Assa'ad-Faltas*, 420 S.C. 28, 47, 800 S.E.2d 782, 791–92 (2017) (“the municipal court would have been justified in insisting that Appellant proceed with the assistance of counsel” considering her “long history of abusing the judicial process”).

Here, though, there was an appropriate waiver at the beginning of trial (which is not contested on appeal), and there was no express retraction of the waiver that would focus the inquiry on the appointment of counsel during the defendant’s absence. There is no indication that Appellant would have offered a retraction – he was firm in his responses and arguments to the trial court that he did not wish standby counsel to be appointed or involved at all. Further still, again based on this record, one would “have little doubt that if” the trial judge ordered standby counsel “to pick up the representation” the appellate court “would be confronted with the argument that the” trial judge “had improvidently and without any record support overruled [the] earlier unambiguous desire for self-representation.” *Stanley*, 739 F.3d at 650. That a retraction of his prior waiver may have been a better choice for Appellant to make is not a relevant

consideration in the constitutional analysis. *State v. Brewer*, 328 S.C. 117, 119, 492 S.E.2d 97, 98 (1997) (“Although a defendant's decision to proceed *pro se* may be to the defendant’s own detriment, it ‘must be honored out of that respect for the individual which is the lifeblood of the law.’”) (quoting *Faretta*, 422 U.S. at 834).

Even so, Appellant failed to preserve the issue of some type of interim appointment during his absence from court. This Court should decline to address the deprivation of counsel argument on the merits as it is procedurally barred.

**CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing, this Court should affirm.